IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

OSCAR GOMEZ, JR.,)	Electronically Filed
#1200302,)	Dec 07 2018 02:45 p.m.
Appellant,)	CASE NO.: 76487 Elizabeth A. Brown
)	Clerk of Supreme Court
)	E-FILE
)	D.C. Case: C-16-316959-1
v.)	Dept.: XXI
)	
STATE OF NEVADA,)	
)	
Respondent.)	
)	

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

**Appeal from a Judgement of Conviction
Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County**

TERRENCE M. JACKSON, ESQ.
Nevada Bar No. 000854
Law Office of Terrence M. Jackson
624 South 9th Street
Las Vegas, Nevada 89101
(702) 386-0001
Terry.jackson.esq@gmail.com

STEVEN B. WOLFSON
Nevada Bar No. 001565
Clark County District Attorney
200 E. Lewis Avenue
Las Vegas, Nevada 89155

NATURE OF THE ACTION

This is an Appeal from a Judgment of Conviction after a guilty plea in the Eighth Judicial District Court.

...

SPECIFICATION OF ERROR

1. The District Court erred by not finding Counsel rendered ineffective assistance of counsel under *Strickland* pre-plea.
2. The District Court erred by not finding Counsel was ineffective at sentencing.
3. The District Court erred at sentencing by not stating adequate reasons on the record for giving the Defendant a weapon enhancement pursuant to NRS 193.165(1).
4. The Defendant's sentence of life with parole eligibility after a minimum of ten years plus a consecutive 240 months with a minimum parole eligibility after 90 months was excessively harsh and disproportionate in violation of the Eighth Amendment.
5. The accumulation of error rendered Defendant's Judgment of Conviction and Sentence invalid.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The Defendant pled guilty to a serious felony charge without adequate and effective assistance of counsel pre-plea. Counsel for the Defendant spent only minimal time with Gomez, explaining to him his options, and discussing possible

defenses and making sure Gomez fully understood all his constitutional rights under the Sixth Amendment before Gomez pled guilty. This failure to adequately investigate and prepare pre-plea and to effectively counsel Gomez before he waived his fundamental Sixth Amendment rights was ineffective assistance of counsel. *See, LaFler v. Cooper*, 566 U.S. 156, 132 S.Ct. 1376 (2012). Counsel was also ineffective at the sentencing by not adequately investigating and preparing all necessary mitigating evidence. At this critical phase of the case, counsel's lack of diligence was ineffectiveness under *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668, 104 S.Ct. 2052 (1984).

The District Court committed reversible error at sentencing by failing to follow the dictates of NRS 193.165(1) which requires the District Court to state on the record at sentencing the factors the judge considered in determining the length of the penalty enhancement under NRS 193.165(1). *Mendoza-Lobos v. State*, 125 Nev. 634, 218 P.3d 501 (2009).

Defendant submits that the aggregate sentence imposed of life plus 240 months was unduly harsh and disproportionate and violated the Eighth Amendment's prohibition against cruel and unusual punishment for the facts of this case. The accumulation of errors in this case violated the Defendant's right to a fair sentence and mandates reversal. *Mulder v. State*, 116 Nev. 1, 992 P.3d 845 (2000).

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

Defendant/Appellant Oscar Gomez, Jr., claims jurisdiction pursuant to N.R.S. 177.015(3) after a Judgment of Conviction following a plea of guilty in Eighth Judicial District Court. The Defendant filed timely Notice of Appeal on July 18, 2018 within the thirty day time limit established by Nevada Rules of Appellate Procedure 4b. (A.A. 030-31)

ROUTING STATEMENT

This is a direct appeal following a Judgment of Conviction after a guilty plea. Pursuant to NRAP 17(b), this case should be assigned to the Court of Appeals.

LEGAL ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

I. WHETHER DEFENSE COUNSEL PROVIDED INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL UNDER *STRICKLAND* PRE-PLEA WHICH RENDERED HIS PLEA OF GUILTY INVALID;

A. WHETHER IT IS FUNDAMENTAL THAT A GUILTY PLEA MUST BE THE PRODUCT OF A KNOWING, VOLUNTARY AND INTELLIGENT WAIVER OF RIGHTS;

B. WHETHER DEFENDANT'S PLEA WAS NOT VOLUNTARY BECAUSE

OF THE INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF HIS COUNSEL. ANY PURPORTED
'WAIVER' OF DEFENDANT'S APPELLATE RIGHTS WAS ALSO INVALID
BECAUSE IT WAS PART OF A CONTRACT OF ADHESION AND VOID FOR
PUBLIC POLICY;

II. WHETHER THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED BY FAILING TO COMPLY
WITH NRS 193.165(1) BY ENUMERATING ON THE RECORD THE SPECIFIC
FACTORS WHICH THE JUDGE USED IN DETERMINING THE
ENHANCEMENT TO THE SENTENCE;

III. WHETHER THE DEFENDANT'S SENTENCE OF LIFE IN PRISON PLUS
A CONSECUTIVE SENTENCE OF 240 MONTHS FOR THE WEAPON
ENHANCEMENT WAS A CRUEL AND UNUSUAL AND DISPROPORTIONATE
SENTENCE UNDER THE EIGHTH AMENDMENT;

IV. WHETHER THE ACCUMULATION OF ERROR REQUIRES REVERSAL
OF DEFENDANT'S CONVICTION.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A criminal complaint was filed on June 25, 2016, charging murder and
accessory to murder. (A.A. 01-02) A preliminary hearing was held August 2, 2016.

(A.A. 05-019) Defendant was bound over from Justice Court on August 2, 2016. An Information was filed on August 3, 2016, charging first degree murder with a deadly weapon. (A.A. 03-04) Defendant was arraigned in District Court on August 4, 2016, and trial was initially set for October 10, 2016.

At calendar call on October 6, 2016, the jury trial was vacated and reset to March 13, 2017. The trial set for March 13, 2017 was vacated and reset to May 30, 2017. On May 19, 2017, Defendant filed a Motion to Suppress. The May 30, 2017 trial date was vacated and reset several more times. Until the calendar call on April 19, 2018, when the Defendant entered a Plea of Guilty pursuant to Plea Memo to second degree murder, (A.A. 022-27) (A.A. 062-76) sentencing occurred June 14, 2018. (A.A. 090-108)

Defendant was sentenced to a life sentence plus a consecutive 240 months for the weapon enhancement. (A.A. 090-108) On June 22, 2018, a Judgment of Conviction was filed. (A.A. 028-29) On July 18, 2018, Defendant filed a timely Notice of Appeal. (A.A. 030-31)

On November 15, 2018, Defendant filed Motion to Stay Appellate Proceedings and Remand to District Court to Withdraw Guilty Plea. (A.A. 109-113) The Court

entered an Order denying that Motion on November 26, 2018. (A.A. 114-15)

FACTUAL STATEMENT

The Defendant was charged by Information with the charge of first degree murder with a deadly weapon. (A.A. 03-04) The Information alleged that on or about June 24, 2016, the Defendant killed Shawn Manymules with the use of a deadly weapon by shooting him in the body in a wilful, deliberate and premeditated manner. (A.A. 03-04)

The Defendant, Oscar Gomez, Jr., was convicted by plea of guilty of the crime of second degree murder on April 19, 2018. (A.A. 062-76) He was sentenced to life imprisonment plus an additional 240 months consecutive for weapons enhancement for a total aggregate sentence of life plus 240 months. (A.A. 090-108) He will not be eligible for parole for at least 18 years.

The aggregate sentence Defendant received of life plus 240 months was greater than necessary to achieve the goals of sentencing. The facts demonstrate this was a case of mutual combat and the Defendant's sentence was so disproportionate as to shock the conscience and violate the Eighth Amendment ban on cruel and unusual punishments.

ARGUMENT

I. THE DEFENDANT’S PLEA OF GUILTY IS INVALID BECAUSE DEFENSE COUNSEL WAS INEFFECTIVE UNDER *STRICKLAND* FOR FAILING TO ADEQUATELY EXPLAIN THE FULL CONSEQUENCES OF THE PLEA OF GUILTY TO THE DEFENDANT.

A. IT IS FUNDAMENTAL THAT A GUILTY PLEA MUST BE THE PRODUCT OF A KNOWING, VOLUNTARY AND INTELLIGENT WAIVER OF RIGHTS. *Johnson v. Zerbst*, 304 U.S. 458 (1938)

It is respectfully submitted that it is abundantly clear from the entire record Defendant did not enter a knowing, voluntary and intelligent plea of guilty. An evidentiary hearing would have established that Oscar Gomez, Jr., did not fully understand the consequences of his plea of guilty nor did he understand fully his right to trial by jury, nor did he fully understand in the waivers contained in the plea memo. Mr. Gomez did not have adequate time to consult with Ms. Levy. This is evidenced by the transcript which shows he was unprepared at the plea hearing. (A.A. 066-68), (A.A. 073-75) Most troubling was Gomez’s failure to acknowledge his actions were unintentional. (A.A. 074-75)

The record reflects he pled guilty under pressure as the offer was going to expire. (A.A. 063) The plea was likely a hasty, ill advised and poorly understood plea and the court erred by not engaging in a more adequate canvas with the Defendant to make sure he fully understood his rights. This plea was therefore not the product of a rational, intelligent and informed decision by the Defendant and as such it was not valid.

B. NOT ONLY WAS DEFENDANT'S PLEA INVOLUNTARY BECAUSE OF INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL, THE PURPORTED 'WAIVER' OF DEFENDANT'S APPELLATE RIGHTS IN THE WRITTEN PLEA MEMORANDUM WAS ALSO INVALID BECAUSE IT WAS PART OF A CONTRACT OF ADHESION AND VOID FOR PUBLIC POLICY.

Pursuant to the plea memorandum when the Defendant accepted the negotiation to plead guilty in this case, the Defendant signed a 'waiver' of appellate rights. The waiver read:

6. The right to appeal the conviction with the assistance of an attorney, either appointed or retained, unless specifically reserved in writing and agreed upon as provided in NRS

174.035(3). I understand this means I am unconditionally waiving my right to a direct appeal of this conviction, including any challenge based upon reasonable constitutional, jurisdictional or other grounds that challenge the legality of the proceedings as stated in NRS 177.015(4). However, I remain free to challenge my conviction through other post-conviction remedies including a habeas corpus petition pursuant to NRS Chapter 34. (Emphasis added)

...

It should be noted Defendant was never specifically questioned by the court about this waiver clause in the plea memo. (A.A. 062-76) The plea canvas did not address the appellate waiver of rights nor did the Defendant initial the specific waiver clause. (A.A. 022-27).

It is respectfully submitted that any attempt to enforce this purported waiver of appellate rights would be inherently unfair because this waiver, attached to the plea memorandum, was a one-sided contract of adhesion. In *United States v. Raynor*, 989 F.Supp. 43 (D. D. C. 1997), the District Court noted:

“The waiver sought by the government in this case contrasts with every other waiver provision typically included in a plea agreement. Every other right that normally is relinquished is a known, well-defined right,

and the *quid pro quo* is understandable. For example, when a defendant gives up the right to trial in favor of a plea, he or she knows that there will no longer be twelve jurors sitting in judgment, that there will no longer be live testimony and the right to confront witnesses, and that there will be no speedy and public trial. The defendant also understands that he or she is giving up the privilege against self-incrimination because the defendant must acknowledge guilt before the plea can be accepted. Moreover, when a defendant waives the right to a trial by jury in exchange for a plea to fewer counts, or a lesser offense, the defendant not only gives up any advantages that may come with a jury trial but also is relieved of the uncertainties that may result from exercising the right to trial.” *Id.* 44

...

The Court in *Raynor* continued, citing *United States v. Johnson*, 992 F.Supp.2d 437 (D. D. C. 1997):

“... [T]he waiver could only be regarded as knowing if it was assumed that the appeal rights need not stand regardless of the grossness of the error of the sentencing court or the court’s intent and purpose.” *Id.* 439, *Id.* 47 (Emphasis added)

...

Public policy concerns to protect defendants rights to appeal also require that any waiver be strictly construed and meet stringent criteria. *See, United States v. Teeter*, 257 F.3d 14 (1st Cir.2001); and *United States v. Black*, 201 F.3d 1296 (10th Cir. 2000).

For these reasons Defendant submits he has the right to appeal his conviction and sentence which violate the United States Constitution. To deny him that right would create a “miscarriage of justice.” *United States v. Andis*, 333 F.3d 886 (8th Cir.2003), *see also, United States v. Hernandez*, 242 F.3d 110 (2d Cir.2001)

II. THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED BY FAILING TO COMPLY WITH NRS 193.165(1) BY ENUMERATING ON THE RECORD THE SPECIFIC FACTORS WHICH THE JUDGE USED IN DETERMINING THE ENHANCEMENT TO THE SENTENCE.

The District Court never gave the specific reasons for the Defendant’s sentence enhancement that complied with NRS 193.165(1). The court not only gave an exceedingly harsh sentence in this case, but the court’s failure to state its rationale for the sentencing enhancement was error. The court ignored the command of amended statute NRS 193.165(1) which states:

NRS 193.165(1) . . . persons using a deadly weapon in the commission of a crime shall, in addition to the punishment for that crime, be sentenced to a term in prison between 1 and 20 years. In determining the length of the additional penalty, the district court must consider: “(a) [t]he facts and circumstances of the crime; (b) [t]he criminal history of the person; (c) [t]he impact of the crime on any victim; (d) [a]ny mitigating factors presented by the person; and (e) [a]ny other relevant information.” NRS 193.165(1).

“The court shall state on the record that it has considered the information described in paragraphs (a) to (e), inclusive, in determining the length of the additional penalty imposed.” *Id.* (Emphasis added)

. . .

See, Mendoza-Lobos v. State, 125 Nev. 634, 218 P.3d 501 (2009).

A review of the sentencing transcript shows the district judge did not state adequately any of the factors NRS 193.165(1) requires. (A.A. 090-108) The court’s violation of NRS 193.165(1) in this case left a less than adequate record for the appellate court to review the sentencing. The Nevada Supreme Court has clearly emphasized the importance of the district court providing an adequate record for appeal. *See, Mendoza-Lobos v. State, supra*, which stated:

“However, in this instance, we elect to abide by the legislative mandate contained in NRS 193.165(1) because it serves the laudable goal of ensuring that there is a considered relationship between the circumstances in which the weapon was used - including the defendant’s history - and the length of the enhancement sentence, as opposed to automatically doubling the sentence for the underlying offence, and facilitates review of the enhancement. *Id.* 641, 642 (Emphasis added).

...

This error was particularly significant in this case because of the lengthy enhancement the Defendant received of 240 months. (A.A. 028-29) For these reasons the sentence must be reversed.

III. DEFENDANT’S SENTENCE OF LIFE IN PRISON PLUS A CONSECUTIVE SENTENCE OF 240 MONTHS FOR THE WEAPON ENHANCEMENT WAS A CRUEL AND UNUSUAL AND DISPROPORTIONATE SENTENCE UNDER THE EIGHTH AMENDMENT.

Defendant Oscar Gomez, Jr. received an aggregate sentence of life with a parole eligibility of ten years plus a consecutive enhancement of 240 months with parole eligibility in 96 months. (A.A. 028-29) Therefore, absent any pardon, or appeal

reducing his sentence, Defendant Oscar Gomez, Jr. will be imprisoned for a minimum of 18 years and most likely will serve over 20 years. Under all the facts and circumstances of this case, Defendant submits that this sentence was unnecessarily long and unnecessarily harsh for a second degree murder charge because it removed almost any meaningful possibility of rehabilitation. The lengthy sentence gave no consideration to any mitigating circumstances in the Defendant's background or in meaningful consideration of the particular facts of the case which involved mutual combat.

“[T]he Eighth Amendment's protection against excessive or cruel and unusual punishments follows from the basic ‘precept of justice that punishment for [a] crime should be graduated and proportioned to [the] offense.’ ” *Kennedy v. Louisiana*, 128 S.Ct. 2541, 2649 (2008) (quoting *Weems v. United States*, 217 U.S. 349, 367 (1910)).

In analyzing whether a sentence is cruel and unusual punishment, a court first makes “a threshold determination that the sentence imposed is grossly disproportionate to the offense committed.” The court then considers “the gravity of the offense and the harshness of the penalty.” *Solem v. Helm*, 463 U.S. 277, 290-91(1983). If the sentence is grossly disproportionate, the court then considers “the sentences imposed on other criminals in the same jurisdiction . . . and the sentences imposed for commission of

the same crime in other jurisdictions.” *Id.* at 291.

Defendant recognizes that in general a sentence imposed within statutory limits is not considered either excessive or cruel and unusual. *United States v. Moriarty*, 429 F.3d 1012, 1024 (11th Cir.2005). However Defendant submits even a statutorily-condoned punishment may sometimes, in rare cases, exceed the limits of the Constitution. *See, Weems, supra* . . . “[E]ven if the minimum penalty . . . had been imposed, it would have been repugnant to the [constitutional prohibition against cruel and unusual punishments].” *Id.* 382 (Emphasis added)

Defendant submits the punishment he received in this case far exceeded the length of a reasonable sentence for a second degree murder conviction. As the sentence was grossly harsh and excessive, it was unconstitutional in violation of the Eighth Amendment’s cruel and unusual punishment clause and should therefore be reversed.

VI. THE ACCUMULATION OF ERROR REQUIRES REVERSAL OF DEFENDANT’S CONVICTION.

The Defendant was charged with the serious felony charge of murder with a deadly weapon. Every error made by the Court in this case seriously prejudiced the

Defendant and each error alone may have been sufficient to require reversal.

Defendant submits when the errors are viewed cumulatively, the case for reversal is overwhelming. *Daniel v. State*, 119 Nev. 498, *see also*, *Sipsas v. State*, 102 Nev. at 125, 216 P.2d at 235, stating: “The accumulation of error is more serious than either isolated breach, and resulted in the denial of a fair trial.” *See also*, *Cooper v. Fitzharris*, 586 F.2d 1325, 1333 (9th Cir.1978) (*En Banc*), cert. den., 440 U.S. 970, stating: “Prejudice may result from the cumulative impact of multiple deficiencies.” *See, Harris by and through Ramseyer v. Wood*, 61 F.3d 1432 (9th Cir.1995).

The multiple errors of the Court in this case when cumulated together require reversal. A quantitative analysis makes that clear. *See, Van Cleave, Rachel, When is Error Not an Error? Habeas Corpus and Cumulative Error*, 46 Baylor Law Review 59, 60 (1993).

Relevant factors to consider in evaluating a claim of cumulative error are:

[1] whether the issue of guilty is close, [2] the quantity and character of the error, and [3] the gravity of the crime charged. *Mulder v. State*, 116 Nev. 1, 17, 992 P.2d 845, 854-55 (2000), citing *Leonard v. State*, 114 Nev. 1196, 1216, 969 P.2d 288, 301 (1998). *See also*, *Big Pond v. State*, 101 Nev. 1, 692 P.2d 1228 (1985); *Daniel v.*

State, 119 Nev. 498, 78 P.3d 890 (2003). (Emphasis added)

The cumulative errors of the Court in this case include whether the District Court coyly ignored the ineffective assistance of defense counsel which led to an invalid plea of guilty.

Whether the District Court erred at sentencing by not stating an adequate reason on the record for its decision to give the Defendant a 240 month weapon enhancement pursuant to NRS 193.165(1). Whether the District Court erred at sentencing by giving the Defendant an excessively harsh and disproportionately long aggregate sentence of imprisonment under the Eighth Amendment.

These were all weighty errors that under the authority of *Mulder* should be cumulative.

CONCLUSION

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