#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

OSCAR GOMEZ, JR.,

Appellant,

Electronically Filed Jan 08 2019 08:16 a.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

V.

THE STATE OF NEVADA,

Respondent.

Case No. 76487

#### **RESPONDENT'S ANSWERING BRIEF**

#### Appeal From Judgment of Conviction (Guilty Plea) Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County

TERRENCE M. JACKSON, ESQ. Nevada Bar #000854 Law Office of Terrence M. Jackson 624 South 9th Street Las Vegas, Nevada 89101 (702) 386-0001

STEVEN B. WOLFSON Clark County District Attorney Nevada Bar #001565 Regional Justice Center 200 Lewis Avenue Post Office Box 552212 Las Vegas, Nevada 89155-2212 (702) 671-2500 State of Nevada

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

#### I. APPELLANT'S CLAIMS OF INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE ARE INAPPROPRIATE ON DIRECT APPEAL

Appellant first complains that his counsel was constitutionally ineffective because he "spent only minimal time" with Appellant and failed to "investigate and prepare pre-plea ... to effectively counsel" Appellant. AOB at 2-3.

"[T]his Court has consistently concluded that it will not entertain claims of ineffective assistance of counsel on direct appeal." <u>Corbin v. State</u>, 111 Nev. 378, 381, 892 P.2d 580, 582 (1995); <u>Pellegrini v. State</u>, 117 Nev. 860, 882-83, 34 P.3d 519, 534 (2001). Claims of ineffective assistance must first be raised in petitions for post-conviction relief. <u>Id.; Franklin v. State</u>, 110 Nev. 750, 752, 877 P.2d 1058, 1059 (1994).

This Court should decline to consider Appellant's claim of ineffective assistance of counsel as it is an inappropriate issue for direct appeal. Furthermore, even if this Court were to find that this claim is appropriate for appeal, it must fail because of Appellant's failure to offer citations to the record to support specific factual contentions. NRAP 28(a)(19)(A); <u>Thomas v. State</u>, 120 Nev. 37, 43, 83 P.3d 818, 822 (2004); <u>Pitman v. Lower Court Counseling</u>, 110 Nev. 359, 365, 871 P.2d

953, 957 (1994), overruled on other grounds, <u>Nunez v. City of North Las Vegas</u>, 116 Nev. 535, 1 P.3d 959 (2000); <u>Allianz Ins. Co. v. Gagon</u>, 109 Nev. 990, 997, 860 P.2d 720, 725 (1993); <u>Smith v. Emery</u>, 109 Nev. 737, 856 P.2d 1386 (1993). Instead, he relies only on the naked assertion that "it is abundantly clear from the entire record" that counsel was ineffective because Appellant's plea was not knowingly, voluntarily, and intelligently entered. AOB at 8. He further confuses the issue by arguing that the involuntariness of the plea is "evidenced by the transcript." <u>Id.</u> Accordingly, Appellant has not adequately briefed this issue.

For these reasons, this Court should decline to consider Appellant's claim that his trial counsel was constitutionally ineffective.

#### II. APPELLANT VOLUNTARILY ENTERED HIS PLEA

Furthermore, even if the previous issue had been fully briefed, it is nevertheless meritless because the record fails to show that the district court plainly erred as Appellant voluntarily entered his plea.

Appellant failed to preserve this issue below and therefore waived all but plain error. Arguments or objections not made in the district court are waived on direct appeal. <u>Dermody v. City of Reno</u>, 113 Nev. 207, 210-11, 931 P.2d 1354, 1357 (1997). When an issue is waived, this Court only reviews for plain error. <u>Martinorellan v. State</u>, 131 Nev. \_\_, \_\_, 343 P.3d 590, 593 (2015); <u>Maestas v. State</u>, 128 Nev. \_\_, \_\_, 275 P.3d 74, 89 (2012); <u>Green v. State</u>, 119 Nev. 542, 545, 80 P.3d 93, 95 (2003); <u>Patterson v. State</u>, 111 Nev. 1525, 1530, 907 P.2d 948, 987 (1995); <u>Ford v. Warden</u>, 111 Nev. 872, 884, 901 P.2d 123, 130 (1995). Plain error review asks:

To amount to plain error, the 'error must be so unmistakable that it is apparent from a casual inspection of the record."" <u>Vega v. State</u>, 126 Nev. \_\_\_\_, \_\_\_, 236 P.3d 632, 637 (2010) (quoting <u>Nelson</u>, 123 Nev. at 543, 170 P.3d at 524). In addition, "the defendant [must] demonstrate[] that the error affected his or her substantial rights, by causing 'actual prejudice or a miscarriage of justice." <u>Valdez</u>, 124 Nev. at 1190, 196 P.3d at 477 (quoting <u>Green v. State</u>, 119 Nev. 542, 545, 80 P.3d 93, 95 (2003))). Thus, reversal for plain error is only warranted if the error is readily apparent and the appellant demonstrates that the error was prejudicial to his substantial rights.

Martinorellan, 131 Nev. at \_\_\_, 343 P.3d at 594.

A casual inspection of the record does not reveal unmistakable error. The district court was never presented with any information to suggest that the plea was involuntary. Instead, Appellant filed a motion with *this Court* to remand so that he could attempt to preserve the issue. AA 109. As this argument was not made before the district court, it is now waived and, for reasons below, does not show plain error. Dermody, 113 Nev. at 210-11, 931 P.2d at 1357.

In Nevada, a guilty plea is presumptively valid, particularly where it is entered into with the advice of counsel. Jezierski v. State, 107 Nev. 395, 397, 812 P.2d 355, 356 (1991). Defendants have the burden of proving that they did not enter their pleas knowingly or voluntarily. <u>Bryant v. State</u>, 102 Nev. 268, 271, 721 P.2d 364, 367 (1986) (superseded by statute, on other grounds, by <u>Hart v. State</u>, 116 Nev.

558, 1 P.3d 969 (2000)); see also Wynn v. State, 96 Nev. 673, 675, 615 P.2d 946, 947 (1980). In determining whether a guilty plea is knowingly and voluntarily entered, the court will review the totality of the circumstances surrounding the defendant's plea. Bryant, 102 Nev. at 271; 721 P.2d at 367. The trial court must personally address a defendant at the time he enters his plea in order to determine whether he understands the nature of the charges to which he is pleading. <u>Id.; State</u> v. Freese, 116 Nev. 1097, 1105, 13 P.3d 442, 448 (2000). However, determining whether the plea was knowingly and voluntarily entered is not contingent on the plea canvass alone, as the court "will not invalidate a plea as long as the totality of circumstances, as shown by the record, demonstrates that the plea was knowingly and voluntarily made and that the defendant understood the nature of the offense and the consequences of the plea." Freese, 116 Nev. at 1105; 13 P.3d at 448. When applying the "totality of circumstances" test, the most significant factors for review include the plea canvass and the written guilty plea agreement. See Hudson v. Warden, 117 Nev. 387, 399, 22 P.3d 1154, 1162 (2001).

Appellant knowingly, intelligently, and voluntarily pleaded guilty. The district court thoroughly canvased Appellant about his plea. AA 69-76. Appellant answered definitively that he had "full and ample opportunity" to discuss his plea, the charges, and the deadly-weapon enhancement with his attorney, and that his attorney answered all of his questions to his satisfaction. AA 70. He told the court

that the plea was freely and voluntarily entered, and that he signed the plea after reading it. AA 72. He told the court that he read the Amended Information, which charged him with second degree murder with use of a deadly weapon, and that he understood the charges. AA 72. The court further gave Appellant an opportunity as part of the canvas to explain exactly what it was that he did, and he said on the record that he shot Shawn Manymules with a handgun, causing him to die. AA 74. When asked if he "intentionally pointed [his] gun at [the victim] and shot into his body," Appellant responded that he had. AA 75. He told the court that he knew as a result of his decision to shoot the victim that he could "either sustain serious bodily injury or possibly die." AA 75. Furthermore, the Court made clear that the choice to plead guilty was his alone, and he was free to either "accept the negotiation or take [his] chances at trial." AA 66. His counsel reiterated this on the record, stating that she was not "coercing" Appellant, but that she had advised him to take the deal and enter the plea. AA 66. Furthermore, contrary to Appellant's claim that he "did not have adequate time to consult" with his counsel, counsel made clear on the record that she had had "so many discussions about the same offer" with Appellant, thereby belying any claim to the contrary. AOB at 8, AA 66-67; see Hargrove v. State, 100 Nev. 498, 502, 686 P.2d 222, 225 (1984).

For these reasons, Appellant has failed to show that his guilty plea was invalid or that the district court plainly erred by accepting it.

# III. THE WAIVER OF APPELLATE RIGHTS CONTAINED IN THE GUILTY PLEA AGREEMENT IS VALID

Appellate next argues that the waiver of appellate rights contained in the Guilty Plea Agreement is invalid. In making this argument, he relies almost exclusively on nonbinding cases from the United States District Court for the District of Columbia, and blatantly ignores prior decisions of this Court:

[A] defendant who has pleaded guilty has a right to appeal from the judgment of conviction, <u>NRS 177.015(4)</u>; see also Franklin v. State, 110 Nev. 750, 751-52, 877 P.2d 1058, 1059 (1994), <u>overruled on other grounds by Thomas</u>, 115 Nev. at 150, 979 P.2d at 223-24, unless he knowingly and voluntarily waives that right, <u>Cruzado v. State</u>, 110 Nev. 745, 879 P.2d 1195 (1994), <u>overruled on other grounds by Lee v. State</u>, 115 Nev. 207, 985 P.2d 164 (1999).

Toston v. State, 127 Nev. 971, 977, 267 P.3d 795, 800 (2011).

A "knowing and voluntary unequivocal waiver of the right to appeal made pursuant to a plea bargain is valid and enforceable." <u>Davis v. State</u>, 115 Nev. 17, 19, 974 P.2d 658, 659 (1999). Federal courts similarly agree that the right to appeal can be waived. <u>United States v. Hernandez</u>, 134 F.3d 1435, 1437 (10th Cir. 1998) ("A defendant's knowing and voluntary waiver of the statutory right to appeal his sentence is generally enforceable."); <u>DeRoo v. United States</u>, 223 F.3d 919, 923 (8th Cir. 2000); <u>United States v. Jeronimo</u>, 398 F.3d 1149, 1154 (9th Cir. 2005) ("[A] waiver of the right to appeal is knowing and voluntary where the plea agreement as a whole was knowingly and voluntarily made."); <u>United States v. Gonzalez-</u> <u>Melchor</u>, 648 F.3d 959, 962 (9th Cir. 2011) (stating that although the Ninth Circuit retains jurisdiction over an appeal by a defendant who has signed an appeal waiver, the court will not exercise that jurisdiction to review the merits of the case if the defendant knowingly and voluntarily waived the right to appeal).

Appellant has not argued that this Court should overturn decades of precedent and find that a waiver of appellate rights contained in a guilty plea agreement that is knowingly and voluntarily entered into is unenforceable. Instead, he argues that this particular waiver<sup>1</sup> is unenforceable because it is a "one-sided contract of adhesion." AOB at 10.

Federal courts addressing this issue have uniformly held that such waivers are not invalid contracts of adhesion because of the rights retained by the defendant if he decides to go to trial. <u>United States v. Hare</u>, 269 F.3d 859, 862 (7th Cir.2001) (rejecting argument that a waiver of appeal was invalid contract of adhesion, and noting that defendant was free to reject the plea offer and proceed to trial); <u>see also United States v. McClure</u>, 338 F.3d 847, 850-51 (8th Cir.2003) (plea agreement not contract of adhesion; defendant did not have to enter into agreement, but was free to hold out for better terms, to proceed to trial, or to plead guilty without an agreement); <u>United States v. Difeaux</u>, 163 F.3d 725, 728 (2d Cir.1998) (plea agreement waiving appeal rights if sentence imposed was within stipulated

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Despite the fact that the Guilty Plea Agreement was similarly presented to him as part of plea negotiations, Appellant does not claim that it is a contract of adhesion.

Guidelines range upheld against argument that it was adhesion contract); <u>United</u> <u>States v. Robinson</u>, 455 F.3d 602, 611 (6th Cir. 2006); <u>United States v. Powers</u>, 885 F.3d 728, 732-33 (D.C. Cir. 2018) (holding that a plea agreement was not an unenforceable adhesion contract where it limited the defendant's, but not the government's, appeal rights); <u>United States v. Guevara</u>, 941 F.2d 1299, 1299-1300 (4th Cir. 1991) (applying a non-mutual waiver of appeal against the government as well but otherwise upholding the waiver); <u>United States v. Miles</u>, Docket No. 18-1172, <u>F.3d</u> (10th Cir. Aug. 29, 2018) (upholding non-mutual appeal waiver).

Appellant argues that "policy concerns to protect defendants [sic] rights to appeal also require that a waiver be strictly construed and meet stringent criteria," but he does not state what those criteria are. AOB at 12. Nor does he offer any suggestion as to how the Guilty Plea Agreement where he "unconditionally waiv[ed his] right to a direct appeal of this conviction" can be strictly construed in a way that does not result in the unconditional waiver of his right to a direct appeal. AOB at 12. Instead, he makes the bare, self-serving claim that the waiver is invalid and should not be enforced to avoid a "miscarriage of justice." AOB at 12. This is insufficient to show that the waiver was invalid, particularly in light of this Court's express approval of appeal waivers in <u>Toston, Cruzado</u>, and <u>Davis</u>.

Moreover, for reasons listed above, Appellant has failed to show that the Guilty Plea Agreement itself was invalid because it was unknowingly or involuntarily entered into. He argues instead that the district court never explicitly addressed this waiver or had him initial it, but he does not argue or present any authority to suggest that the district court had an explicit duty to do either. AOB at 10. In any event, he explicitly told the district court that he read the entire guilty plea agreement and understood everything therein. AA 73. Accordingly, even if the district court did have an affirmative duty to make sure that Appellant enumerated all the rights which he was waiving as a result of his plea, its failure to do so is harmless error. NRS 178.598.

Appellant has also failed to show that he has suffered a fundamental miscarriage of justice. NRS 34.724 still affords him the right to pursue habeas relief following the resolution of this appeal notwithstanding the waiver of appellate rights.

For these reasons, Appellant has failed to show that his waiver of appellate rights was an invalid contract of adhesion or otherwise invalid.

## IV. THE DISTRICT COURT'S FAILURE TO STATE THE FACTORS OF NRS 193.165(1) IS NOT PLAIN ERROR

Appellant has failed to demonstrate that it was plain error for the district court to fail to consider the factors in NRS 193.165(1) in making its sentencing decision.

Pursuant to NRS 193.165(1), Courts who are enhancing a sentence because the underlying crime was committed with a deadly weapon "shall consider the

following information:"

(a) The facts and circumstances of the crime;

(b) The criminal history of the person;

(c) The impact of the crime on any victim;

(d) Any mitigating factors presented by the person; and

(e) Any other relevant information.

NRS 193.165(1)(a)-(e).

Beyond the mere consideration of the following facts, district courts are

required to "state on the record that it has considered the information" above. Id.

The district court in this case did not state these factors on the record. AA 90-108.

Appellant never objected below, and therefore waives all but plain error.

Dermody, 113 Nev. at 210-11, 931 P.2d at 1357; Davis v. State, 107 Nev. at 606,

817 P.2d at 1173. Plain error review asks:

"To amount to plain error, the 'error must be so unmistakable that it is apparent from a casual inspection of the record."" <u>Vega v. State</u>, 126 Nev. \_\_\_\_, \_\_\_, 236 P.3d 632, 637 (2010) (quoting <u>Nelson</u>, 123 Nev. at 543, 170 P.3d at 524). In addition, "the defendant [must] demonstrate [] that the error affected his or her substantial rights, by causing 'actual prejudice or a miscarriage of justice." <u>Valdez</u>, 124 Nev. at 1190, 196 P.3d at 477 (quoting <u>Green v. State</u>, 119 Nev. 542, 545, 80 P.3d 93, 95 (2003))). Thus, reversal for plain error is only warranted if the error is readily apparent and the appellant demonstrates that the error was prejudicial to his substantial rights.

Martinorellan, 131 Nev. at \_\_\_, 343 P.3d at 594.

Appellant cites Mendoza-Lobos v. State, 125 Nev. 634, 218 P.3d 501 (2009),

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